Georgia State University

ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

12-16-2020

The Risk of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in Preterm and Low Birth Weight Infants

Sonia Sanchez-Alvarez Georgia State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses

Recommended Citation

Sanchez-Alvarez, Sonia, "The Risk of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in Preterm and Low Birth Weight Infants." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2020.

https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses/723

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

Abstract

THE RISK OF AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER (ASD) IN PRETERM AND LOW BIRTH WEIGHT INFANTS

By

SONIA SANCHEZ-ALVAREZ

December 2020

INTRODUCTION: Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is characterized by challenges in the areas of repetitive behaviors, social skills, and speech and nonverbal communications. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 1 in 54 children (8 years old) in the United States have ASD.

AIM: This study aimed to investigate and examine the association between both gestational age & low birth weight (LBW) and autism spectrum disorder (ASD).

METHODS: This study used secondary data from the National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH), a cross-sectional survey that examines the emotional and physical health of children in the United States from birth to 17 years of age, for the years 2016-2018. Logistic regression models were used to examine any effects that may be due to prematurity and low birth weight on ASD outcomes. The two ASD outcomes considered were whether caretakers had a health care provider who "Ever Told" them their child has an ASD or whether their child "Currently" has an ASD diagnosis.

RESULTS: Univariate models showed that both LBW and gestational ages are associated with increased odds of ASD, ever or current diagnosis. When birth weight and gestational age were conjointly considered, there was only a moderate association between preterm birth and ASD. In multivariate models with relevant covariates (e.g., controlling for presence of developmental delays; health insurance) prematurity continued to be associated with ever or current ASD status, but birth weight was not.

DISCUSSION: The study fits in with previous literature that have reported consistent associations between preterm birth and ASD, but mixed findings between birth weight and ASD. Most studies do not include both gestational age and birth weight in their analyses. These results may be used to inform future prenatal care research aimed at understanding ASD's etiology.

THE RISK OF AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER (ASD) IN PRETERM AND LOW BIRTH WEIGHT INFANTS

by

SONIA SANCHEZ-ALVAREZ

B.S., GEORGIA GWINNETT COLLEGE

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH

ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30303

APPROVAL PAGE

THE RISK OF AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER (ASD) IN PRETERM AND LOW BIRTH WEIGHT INFANTS

by

SONIA SANCHEZ-ALVAREZ

Approved:

Brian Barger, PhD,
Committee Chair

Emily Graybill, PhD, NCSP
Committee Member

Defense Date: November 18, 2020

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my thesis committee chair, Dr. Brian Barger, for the guidance and feedback throughout this project. I appreciate your tremendous support in the analysis and writing process. I would also like to thank Dr. Emily Graybill for joining my thesis committee and for her support and feedback in the thesis writing process. You both have been very helpful and encouraging and have made this an amazing experience, thank you so much!

Author's Statement Page

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this thesis may be granted by the author or, in his/her absence, by the professor under whose direction it was written, or in his/her absence, by the Associate Dean, School of Public Health. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission of the author.

Sonia Sanchez-Alvarez

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	7
INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	8-15
1.1 Background	8
1.2 Etiological Risk Factors	8
1.2.1 Sociodemographic factors 8	
1.2.2 Prenatal factors9	
1.2.3 Perinatal factors 10	
1.2.4 Postnatal factors 10	
1.3 Preterm Birth and ASD	
1.4 Low Birth Weight and ASD	14
CURRENT ANALYSIS	
2.1 Overview	16
2.1.1 Objective 16	
2.1.2 Research Question 16	
METHODS	17-18
3.1 Secondary Data Collection	17
3.2 Participants	17
3.3 Measures	17
3.3.1 Outcome Variables 17	
3.3.2 Primary Predictor Variables 17	
3.3.3 Secondary Predictor Variables 18	
3.4 Statistical Analysis	18
RESULTS	
4.1 Table 1 Results	
4.2 Table 2 Results	22
4.3 Table 3 Results	25
4.4 Table 4 Results	30
CONCLUSION	35-38
5.1 Discussion of Research Question	35
5.2 Discussion of Secondary Variables	35
5.3 Outcomes of the Current Analysis	
5.4 Discussion of Strengths	
5.5 Discussion of Limitations	37
5.6 Future Directions	37
REFERENCES	39-52

List of Tables

Table 4.1 Percentages of predictor variables from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2016-2018

Table 4.2 Univariate analyses displaying the odds of ASD diagnosis by predictor variables from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2016-2018

Table 4.3 Logistic Regression Models displaying the relationship between Ever Told ASD diagnosis, gestational age, birth weight, and socio-demographics from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2016-2018

Table 4.4 Logistic Regression Models displaying the relationship between Currently ASD diagnosis, gestational age, birth weight, and socio-demographics from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2016-2018

Chapter I: Introduction

1.1 Background

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2020), 1 in 54 children (aged 8 years old) in the United States, have an autism spectrum disorder (ASD). The prevalence of children with autism has been increasing over the years; in 2004, 1 in 125 children in the United States were diagnosed with autism, while in 2014, 1 in 59 were diagnosed with autism (CDC, 2020a). ASD is characterized by challenges in the areas of repetitive behaviors, social skills, and speech and nonverbal communications (Autism Speaks, 2019). Individuals with ASD present with a wide spectrum of behaviors and abilities, but impaired social interactions and communication abilities are core attributes shared by those ultimately diagnosed with this condition (Autism Speaks, 2019).

1.2 Etiological Risk Factors

With ASD on the rise, it is important to examine and analyze the possible causes and risk factors of this condition (Agrawal et al., 2018; Goldin & Matson, 2016). Although the specific causes for developing ASD are not well understood (Harel-Gadassi et al., 2018), researchers suggest that 60-65% of ASD could be due to maternal factors, including prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal factors (Gardener et al., 2011; Limperopoulos, 2009; Tchaconas & Adesman, 2013), and 35-40% could be due to genetic factors (Froehlich-Santino et al., 2014; Hallmayer et al., 2011). Furthermore, a number of sociodemographic characteristics have also been proposed as possible risk factors for ASD (Kuzniewicz et al., 2014; Matheis et al., 2018; Pinborough-Zimmerman, et al., 2011; Russell et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2017; Xie et al., 2016). The primary focus of this study will be on sociodemographic and maternal factors.

1.2.1 Sociodemographic factors

Sociodemographic factors associated with ASD include sex/gender, race/ethnicity, maternal age at birth, birth order, primary language spoken in the household, and socioeconomic and insurance status (Kuzniewicz et al., 2014; Matheis et al., 2018; Pinborough-Zimmerman, et al., 2011; Russell et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2017; Xie et al., 2016). ASD is four times more common among boys compared to girls (CDC, 2020a; Frazier et al., 2014; Leavey et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2012; Msall, 2010). For example, analyses from the 2005-2006 National Survey of Children with Special Health Care Needs (NS-CSHCN) found that 78.4% of children with autism were male and 21.6% were female from a sample of 192,083 (Cheak-Zamora et al., 2012). Another study found more ASD cases among males, as well as among mothers who were over the age of 34 and mothers who were non-Hispanic White (Pinborough-Zimmerman, et al., 2011). Additionally, infants born to older parents (e.g., maternal age ≥35 and paternal age ≥40) demonstrate a greater risk for ASD (Durkin et al., 2008; Limperopoulos, 2009; Sharma et al., 2018). Thus, a growing body of evidence suggests a link between ASD, parental age, and gender.

Historically, the reported prevalence of ASD was higher in White children than other races and ethnicities (Jarquin et al., 2011; Mandell et al., 2002; Mandell et al., 2007; Mandell et

al., 2009), but in more recent years, official rates show Black-White differences equalizing and White-Hispanic differences staying unequal (CDC, 2020d). Recent research using other data sets indicates prevalence in some non-White groups is even greater than White prevalence (Downey, 2020; Kogan et al., 2018; Nevison & Parker, 2020; Nevison & Zahorodny, 2019). Since reports of ASD diagnoses among non-White children have been increasing recently, the literature varies when comparing ASD among different races and ethnicities. For example, a meta-analysis found that the parental race of White and Asian both increased the risk for ASD (Wang et al., 2017). Yet, the 2007 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) and the 2009-2010 NS-CSHCN showed increased odds of ASD in Hispanic non-English speaking households versus non-Hispanic Whites (Simon et al., 2013). Thus, it is not clear if one race or ethnicity is more associated with ASD compared to other race or ethnicities.

A number of other sociodemographic factors are also associated with ASD. For example, in the 2007 NSCH and the Interactive Autism Network (IAN) Registry, researchers found increased odds of ASD in children who were older and those born early in the birth order (Frazier et al., 2014; Simon et al., 2013). Furthermore, family poverty level (FPL) and health insurance status may also be associated with ASD. For example, in the 2005-2006 NS-CSHCN, there was a greater percentage among ASD cases within the 200-399% FPL compared to the 0-99% FPL, and greater ASD cases among those with private health insurance coverage compared to those uninsured and those having public insurance coverage only (Cheak-Zamora et al., 2012). Finally, parental education is another factor discussed in the literature, but with inconsistent findings. Some researchers have found an increased risk for ASD among parents who have a college education or greater (Wang et al., 2017), while other researchers have found greater ASD diagnoses among those with a lower parental education (Amr et al., 2012). Therefore, including other covariates in the analysis is an important step as many could be associated with autism, as seen with these studies. Collectively, there is evidence among the relationship between ASD and a variety of sociodemographic factors.

1.2.2 Prenatal factors

Evidence is emerging suggesting the association between factors during the prenatal period, which lasts from conception to 38 weeks of gestation (Encyclopedia of Children's Health, 2020) and ASD, but the available research is informative. For instance, Baron-Cohen (2002) developed the 'extreme male brain theory' which suggests that biological sex differences can explain higher ASD rates among males, who tend to systemize more than empathize. Specifically, this theory maintains that in-utero exposure to testosterone and androgens "masculinizes" the brain in a way that leads to increased interest in mechanical/physical interests and decreased social interests (Furfaro, 2019). Further, there is a decrease in cognitive empathy that makes it more difficult to recognize the emotions of others from the excess testosterone (Furfaro, 2019; Van Honk et al., 2013) (for counter evidence: McCarthy, 2019; Nadler, 2019; Paddock, 2019). Furthermore, other prenatal factors, such as gestational diabetes, gestational hypertension, parental age, parental race, and threatened abortion have also been found to be risk

factors of ASD (Hadjkacem et al., 2016; Limperopoulos, 2009; Şahin et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2017). Overall, a growing body of evidence suggests that a number of prenatal factors are associated with an increased risk of autism (Limperopoulos, 2009).

1.2.3 Perinatal factors

The perinatal period, which is linked to maternal health, is the period that starts at 22 completed weeks of gestation and ends seven days after birth (WHO, 2013). A number of studies suggest that delivery methods and outcomes could be risk factors linked to ASD; in particular, cesarean delivery, fetal distress, parity (the number of times a woman has completed a pregnancy reaching 20 weeks' gestation; Opara, & Zaidi, 2007), and gestational age (<37 weeks)/prematurity have been associated with increased risk of ASD (Hadjkacem et al., 2016; Kuzniewicz et al., 2014; Sahin et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2017). For example, studies have shown that the prevalence of ASD was greater in infants born <37 weeks compared to infants born >37 weeks gestational age (Kuzniewicz et al., 2014; Sugie et al., 2005). Researchers also found that infants born 27 to 36 weeks gestational age were at increased risk for ASD after adjusting for sex, cesarean delivery method, and maternal age and education (Kuzniewicz et al., 2014). Further, other researchers compared ASD with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and specific learning disability (SLD), and they found that prematurity was more associated with ASD (Sahin et al., 2019). Additionally, obstetric complications, such as fetal distress, cesarean delivery, and maternal hypertension can increase risk of autism (Limperopoulos, 2009). Collectively, research indicates a relationship between a number of perinatal factors and ASD.

1.2.4 Postnatal factors

The postnatal period occurs immediately after childbirth and extends up to six weeks after birth (WHO, 2013). Evidence demonstrates that postnatal factors are associated with ASD, such as low birth weight, postpartum & intracranial hemorrhage, respiratory infections, and brain anomalies (Hadjkacem et al., 2016; Kuzniewicz et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2017). For example, babies who are born with a low birth weight and survive are generally at risk for a number of disabilities across the lifespan, including ASD (WHO, 2018b). Further, a meta-analysis (total of 17 studies) found that postpartum hemorrhage, low birth weight, and brain anomalies increased the risk for autism (Wang et al., 2017). A retrospective cohort study found higher frequencies of intracranial hemorrhage and ventilation associated with ASD in infants born <34 weeks (Kuzniewicz et al., 2014). Additionally, a cross-sectional study found that 24% of children diagnosed with ASD had a respiratory infection in early life (Hadjkacem et al., 2016), and a comparative study found that children with ASD showed greater neonatal (newborn) complications (e.g., respiratory distress) compared to typically developing children (Sugie et al., 2005). Overall, research indicates a relationship between a number of postnatal factors and ASD.

1.3 Preterm Birth and ASD

Infants who are born preterm tend to have difficulties with social and emotional communication and attention, which are suggestive signs of ASD (Lederman et al., 2018). The World Health Organization (WHO, 2018b) defines preterm birth as being born alive before 37 weeks of the pregnancy are completed. Preterm birth is a perinatal factor with subcategories including extremely preterm (<28 weeks), very preterm (28-32 weeks), moderate to late preterm (32-37 weeks), and full term (>37; WHO, 2018b). Globally, the prevalence of infants born preterm is 15 million or 1 in 10 (WHO, 2018a). In 2017, 17% of infant deaths were due to prematurity and low birth weight in the United States, but those who survive can have developmental delays and other problems (e.g., cerebral palsy, hearing problems; CDC, 2019). Further, infants born <33 weeks of gestation are at a 2-fold increase for ASD (Schendel & Bhasin, 2008), and infants who are born extremely preterm have greater risks for behavioral disorders and developmental problems, including learning disabilities, language disorders and cognitive delays, which continue into school age (Lowe et al., 2019).

The research on gestational age and ASD is suggestive, but non-uniform as there is a mix of supportive and non-supportive findings, and this variance across study findings likely stems from a number of methodological factors (e.g., epidemiological vs. clinical studies, sample size). For example, a large Canadian population-based cohort (N = 218,110) used delivery records to identify the gestational age at birth among singleton live births and reported that ASD risk increases as gestational age decreases, in which a total of 17,830 (8.2%) preterm births (23-36 weeks' gestation) were reported with 1,135 (0.52%) being diagnosed with ASD (Leavey et al., 2013). However, a clinical study that recruited 916 children diagnosed with ASD and 739 children with atypical development from the Louisiana Part C Early Intervention program found that premature birth (<37 weeks' gestation) was twice as common among the children with atypical development compared to the children diagnosed with ASD (Goldin & Matson, 2016). There is a mix of findings, with some researchers showing no association between preterm birth and ASD (Goldin & Matson, 2016), while other researchers have shown that prematurity is associated with a gradual increase of ASD with 'each decreasing week of gestation' (Joseph et al., 2016, p. 3; Kerstjens et al., 2012, p. 1098; Kuzniewicz et al., 2014, p. 24; Leavey, et al., 2013, p. 363). Collectively, the literature is mainly supportive of the association between preterm birth and ASD.

One important source of variance is that studies differ in how ASD is measured. For example, some studies only rely on ASD screening tools, which are less refined than diagnostic tests because screening does not provide a diagnosis, but may identify areas requiring further assessment; that is, if the child is presenting behaviors associated with ASD, they should be referred to a primary or health care provider who will provide a formal assessment (CDC, 2020b). Examples of screening tools used in the preterm birth literature include the Modified Checklist for Autism in Toddlers (M-CHAT), the Child Behavior Checklist (CBC), and the Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ), with some studies following up with a diagnostic assessment to determine if those who screened positive actually have ASD (Sugie et al., 2005),

while others do not (Stephens et al., 2012; Limperopoulos et al., 2008b). Further, a true diagnosis includes high quality assessments and measures including both parent interviews and behavioral observations from a professional or primary care provider (Barger et al., 2018; CDC, 2020c; Joseph et al., 2016; Klin et al., 2005). The Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R), Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS), and the Childhood Autism Ratings Scale (CARS) are diagnostic tests that have been used to determine whether or not a child has autism (Agrawal et al., 2018; Joesph et al., 2017). A recent meta-analysis included 18 different studies (N = 3,366 preterm infants) that used diagnostic tests and excluded studies that used screening tools; overall, they found that the pooled ASD prevalence for preterm infants was 7% (Agrawal et al., 2018). Further, a clinical study that recruited 554 18-22-month-old children from the Neonatal Research Network found that 20% of infants screened positive for ASD on at least one of the following: The Pervasive Developmental Disorders Screening Test, 2nd Edition (PDDST-II), the response to joint attention on the ADOS, or the response-to-name item on ADOS (Stephens et al., 2012). Although this clinical study used several screening tools, the authors concluded that "further diagnostic assessment is needed to evaluate the sensitivity and specificity of these screens and determine true rates of ASD in extremely preterm infants" (p. 6). That being said, the differences in ASD prevalence seen across the studies (7% vs. 20%) are due to the variability in ASD measurement. Though the clinical study showed a "greater" prevalence of autism in extremely preterm infants (20%), the meta-analysis captures a more accurate rate of ASD cases (7%) because they only included studies that used diagnostic assessments. Thus, the updated Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edition (DSM-V) diagnostic criteria should be followed in order to receive more accurate diagnoses of autism, which can include the use of both ADOS and ADI-R (Autism Speaks, 2020a; Esler, 2015).

Another important source of variance across studies involves how conditions are defined. For example, studies vary in their definitions of gestational age, using very preterm or extremely preterm interchangeably; some studies define prematurity as <33 weeks' gestation (Agrawal et al., 2018; Lampi et al., 2010; Schendel & Bhasin, 2008); other studies define prematurity as 23 to 27 weeks' gestation (Joseph et al., 2016; Joseph et al., 2017; Leavey et al., 2013). Additionally, studies vary in how ASD is defined. For example, some studies define ASD as having a range of neurodevelopmental conditions that impair communication and social interaction (Johnson et al., 2010; Leavey et al., 2013; Lederman et al., 2018; Stephens et al., 2012), while other studies define ASD as debilitating, repetition in behavior patterns, and motor deficits (Agrawal et al., 2018; Goldin & Matson, 2016). Further, studies vary in the diagnostic criteria used; under the new DSM-V criteria, the autism definitions/categories changed from including Autistic disorder, Asperger syndrome, Childhood disintegrative disorder, and Pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS) to the broader categories of persistent deficits in social communication/interaction, and restricted, repetitive patterns of behavior (Autism Speaks, 2020b). Because of the several diagnostic categories under the DSM-IV, researchers developed DSM-V to better and more broadly define mental and psychiatric disorders (Stein et al., 2010). For example, DSM-IV defined mental disorders as an "association

with present distress or disability or with a significantly increased risk of suffering death, pain, disability, or an important loss of freedom," while DSM-V defines mental/psychiatric disorders as "the consequences of which are clinically significant distress or disability" (Stein et al., 2010, p. 1761). Thus, children previously diagnosed with DSM-IV under Asperger's syndrome, autistic disorder, or PDD-NOS, should be given the diagnosis of "autism spectrum disorder" (Autism Speaks, 2020b).

While the clinical literature is mixed, the population-based literature uniformly suggests a relationship between gestational age and ASD. For example, an early study found an increase in atypical social-behavioral functioning among extremely premature infants, which is strongly suggestive of ASD (Limperopoulos, 2009). Other studies have found that up to a quarter of extremely preterm infants screen positive for ASD (Limperopoulos et al., 2008b). Furthermore, in a large population-based case-control study (N = 4.713), there was evidence of an increased risk for childhood autism and pervasive developmental disorder (PPD) in very low gestational age infants (less than 32 weeks) compared to infants with a gestational age of >37 weeks (Lampi et al., 2010). Another study found that of 219 extremely preterm (<26 weeks' gestation) children, 8% were ultimately given an ASD diagnosis; no one from the 153-full-term group was given an ASD diagnosis (Johnson et al., 2010). Further, researchers from a prospective multi-center birth cohort (14 institutions and 889 participants) found that children who are born in the lowest gestational age category (23-24 weeks) are at greater risk for ASD without intellectual disabilities (Joseph et al., 2017). Other studies have clinically assessed the prevalence of potential ASD in preterm to full term infants showing that 13% of preterm infants and 3.9% of full-term infants screened positive for ASD (Gray et al., 2015). Ultimately, a recent metaanalytic study concluded that about 900,000 additional pre-term children will develop ASD each year suggesting a strong link (Agrawal et al., 2018).

A notable source of variance across studies is the inclusion of important covariates. For example, in a large population-based case-control study (Lampi et al., 2010), there was a statistical relationship between preterm birth and ASD after adjusting for smoking during pregnancy, maternal age, and congenital anomalies. In addition, another study that screened for autism in extremely preterm infants controlled for the child's sex and acute intrapartum hemorrhage, in which both were significantly associated with abnormal ASD screening scores (Limperopoulos et al., 2008b). Further, a 2010 population-based cohort found that pre-term birth was associated with ASD even when controlling for child sex, presence of abnormal cerebral ultrasounds, and vaginal breech delivery (Johnson et al.). In a 2015 clinical assessment, researchers found that those who scored positive on the M-CHAT were born to young, non-White mothers, and had a higher incidence of being small for their gestational age (Gray et al., 2015). Others have found that sicker pre-term children with greater degrees of impairment and smaller infants were more likely to screen positive for ASD (Stephens et al., 2012). Collectively, research indicates that there is a relationship between preterm birth and ASD even when controlling for a number of important covariates.

1.4 Low Birth Weight and ASD

Infants who are born with a low birth weight (LBW) have been identified as having disturbances in communication, behavior, social interactions in adulthood, and greater externalizing and internalizing behavior problems compared to their counterparts, which are suggestive signs of ASD (Limperopoulos et al., 2008a). LBW, which is a postnatal factor, is defined as newborns weighing less than 2,500g (5lbs & 5oz.) at birth (WHO, 2014). The birth weight categories include extremely low birth weight (ELBW) weighing less than 1,000g (2lbs & 3oz.), very low birth weight (VLBW) weighing less than 1,500g (3lbs & 9oz.), and LBW weighing less than 2,500g (WHO, 2014). The main cause of LBW is being born premature (before the 37 weeks of pregnancy are completed; Boston Children's Hospital, 2020). Although some babies are born full term (>37 weeks), some might still weigh less than 2,500g (WHO, 2018a). Surviving LBW infants have higher rates of positive screening from the M-CHAT and evidence indicates greater risk for developing ASD (Kuzniewicz et al., 2014).

The research on birth weight and ASD is largely non-uniform as there is a mix of supportive and non-supportive findings. For example, a large cohort of 4,800 children that were classified as normal weight (≥2500g), moderately LBW (<2500g), and VLBW (≤1500g) found that being born VLBW increased the odds of ASD (Moss & Chugani, 2014). Another large cohort (N = 1,850), however, conducted a secondary data analysis on the 2011-2012 NSCH and found that there was no correlation between LBW and ASD (Ghadge et al., 2016). Further, a smaller Japanese study of 204 VLBW infants wherein 35 had ASD participants and 169 no-ASD or intellectual disability found that the ASD group had lower birth weight (Kihara & Nakamura, 2015). However, another smaller retrospective cohort study collected clinical data on 59 participants, and researchers found that the birth weight among infants did not differ between the ASD group and the non-ASD group (Ikejiri et al., 2016). Lastly, Schendel & Bhasin (2008) found that the prevalence of ASD in LBW infants was much lower than in those with other developmental disabilities. Thus, there seems to be a mix of findings in the association between birth weight status and ASD.

Notably, studies vary in terms of participant recruitment and ASD measurement. For example, a study that recruited 75 children born ELBW and VLBW from three different hospitals assessed ASD using multiple screening tools and found that 32 of them (42.7%) tested positive on at least one of three screening tools; after only 19 participated in the follow-up, eight were ultimately diagnosed using ADOS plus a clinical evaluation (Dudova et al., 2014). Further, a statewide prevalence study compared 78 cases who had autism and five controls per case using data from birth certificates, resulting in 2.40 greater odds of ASD among cases being born with a LBW (<2,500g) compared to the matching controls (Burd et al., 1999). Thus, the importance and validity of these studies are their use of diagnostic tests or confirmed ASD diagnoses from an autism registry.

Although there is some variability in the literature, most data support the association between LBW and ASD. For example, an early cohort study found an increase in ASD positive screening among LBW infants compared to their peers (Limperopoulos et al., 2008b). Further, another

study recruited 110 adults who were born with a VLBW and 104 term-born adults; they found that the VLBW adults scored worse on social interactions compared to the full-term adults, and lower on their attention to details (Pyhälä et al., 2014). Moreover, a large population-based case-control study (N = 4,713) showed evidence of an increased risk for childhood autism and pervasive developmental disorder (PPD) in VLBW (<1,500g) and in LBW (<2,500g) infants compared to infants born with a normal birth weight (Lampi et al., 2010). It has also been estimated that every 100g increase in birth weight leads to a 13% reduction in risk of ASD (Losh et al., 2012). Thus, the literature generally supports the hypothesis that children born with a lower birth weight are at a greater risk for ASD.

Another notable source of variance across studies is the inclusion of important covariates. For example, one study found that the children who tested positive for ASD were more likely to be male, had a lower gestational age, were born to women with pre-eclampsia (maternal high blood pressure) and with increasing maternal age, and were also more likely to be diagnosed with Down Syndrome, Patau Syndrome, or with a congenital brain anomaly (Mann et al., 2009). Moreover, researchers included parental education, Caucasian maternal race, gestational age (<36 weeks), Apgar score 5, and other terminations of pregnancy as covariates in their study, and the results showed that ASD cases had 2.25 greater odds of maternal education of less than grade 12 compared to the controls; however, they found no significance in the associations between maternal race White, Appar score 5, gestational age (<36 weeks), and other terminations of pregnancy and ASD (Burd et al., 1999). Further, in a large population-based case-control study there was still a statistical relationship between LBW and ASD after adjusting for confounders. including smoking during pregnancy, maternal age, and congenital anomalies (Lampi et al., 2010). Lastly, Schendel & Bhasin (2008) found a 4-fold increased risk in LBW girls for ASD only when accompanied by mental retardation, and a 2-fold increased risk in a birth weight of <2,500g among girls; this study is non-supportive of the several studies that found a greater association of ASD among boys because when the researchers examined autism alone, they found no significance in LBW boys. Collectively, research indicates that there is a relationship between LBW and ASD even when controlling for a number of important covariates.

Chapter II: Current Analysis

2.1 Overview

The need for this analysis comes from the gradual increase of ASD prevalence (CDC, 2020a). Several studies have found preterm birth and LBW to be ASD risk factors, while others have reported mixed findings. Although prematurity is the main cause of having a LBW (Boston Children's Hospital, 2020), preterm infants aren't always born with a LBW. Since these risk factors covary, it is reasonable to consider them conjointly as risk factors for autism (Mann et al., 2009). That being said, several studies have conjointly investigated LBW and prematurity on their relationship with ASD (Joseph et al., 2017; Lampi et al., 2010; Mann et al., 2009; Matheis et al., 2018; Schendel & Bhasin, 2008; Schieve et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017). Critically, Schendel & Bhasin (2008) is the only study finding lower odds of ASD when including other developmental delays and intellectual disabilities. While, a prospective cohort found that children who are born 23 to 24 weeks' gestation are at greater risk for ASD without intellectual disabilities (Joseph et al., 2017). Thus, the present analysis includes prematurity and LBW as well to determine whether the odds of ASD will be similar or different to Schendel's and Joseph's study findings. One other study looked at the effect on LWB and prematurity on ASD incidence using the National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH, 2011-2012), but did not indicate whether they used the "ever" or "current" ASD outcome variable (Ghadge et al., 2016). Therefore, the present analysis will fill the gap in determining whether or not the measured variables have an association with one or both ASD outcomes. Finally, some studies have smaller sample sizes (Ikejiri et al., 2016; Kihara, & Nakamura, 2015; Limperopoulos et al., 2008b) or may only analyze data from one state (Burd et al., 1999; Mann et al., 2009), but these data (NSCH) are from a large and complex nationally-represented survey.

2.1.1 Objective

The purpose of this analysis is to determine the odds of autism for children who were born premature and underweight.

2.1.2 Research Question

Do preterm and low birth weight infants have greater odds of being diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder (ASD)?

Chapter III: Methods

3.1 Secondary Data Collection

Data were collected from the National Survey of Children's Health. The NSCH is a cross-sectional survey that examines the emotional and physical health of children in the United States, which includes all 50 states and the District of Columbia. This survey was sponsored by the Maternal and Child Health Bureau of the Health Resources and Services Administration. The datasets used for this analysis include NSCH 2016, 2017, & 2018.

3.2 Participants

Since 2016, household addresses have been randomly selected from the Census Master Address File (MAF) and are identified by which households are likely to have children. The information collected from the participants are based on the health and well-being of children, such as neighborhood characteristics, parental physical and mental health, access and utilization of health care, family interactions, and receipt of care in a medical home. The age range for this analysis include all children from the survey, from birth to 17 years old. Overall, 50,212 completed the topical questionnaire in 2016, 21,599 completed the topical questionnaire in 2017, and 30,530 completed the topical questionnaire in 2018. In total, 102,341 observations were seen from the topical questionnaires of 2016 to 2018.

3.3 Measures

3.3.1 Outcome Variables

ASD Identification. From the cross-sectional survey, two primary ASD outcomes were used: "Has a doctor or other health care provider EVER told you that this child has Autism or Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)?" and "Does this child CURRENTLY have the condition?" Both questions include the diagnosis of Pervasive Developmental Disorder (PDD) or Asperger's Disorder. It was appropriate to include both outcomes as other researchers using the NSCH have also included both outcomes in their research when analyzing ASD (Kogan et al., 2018; Schieve et al., 2012a; Schieve et al., 2012b; Thomas et al., 2016).

3.3.2 Primary Predictor Variables

Gestational Age and Birth Weight Status. The following predictor variables of gestational age and birth weight were used: "Was this child born more than 3 weeks before his or her due date?" and "Birth weight status", respectively. The gestational age predictor variable is a binary variable since the parents/caregivers only had two options to choose from, yes or no [Reference]. The birth weight status is an ordinal variable because of the categories available to choose from: not low birth weight [Reference], low birth weight (1,500-2,500g), and very low birth weight (<1,500g).

3.3.3 Secondary Predictor Variables

Other variables used for this analysis included: child-level and family/parental-level variables. The child-level variables are as follows: sex (female [Reference], and male), age (<4 [Reference], 4-8, 9-12, and ≥13 years old), developmental delays (no [Reference], and yes), intellectual disabilities (no [Reference], and yes), birth order (third or greater older child [Reference], only child, oldest child, and second oldest child), and race/ethnicity. Race and ethnicity were combined into the following categories: non-Hispanic Other [Reference], non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, and Hispanic. The family/parental-level variables are as follows: age of mother at birth (18-24 [Reference], 25-29, 30-34, and ≥35 years old), family structure (2 parents married [Reference], 2 parents not married, single mother, and other), usual source of care (no usual source [Reference], usual source), highest level of education among reported adults (more than high school [Reference], and high school or less), primary language in household (non-English [Reference], and English), insurance type (private only [Reference], public only, public and private, and uninsured), personal doctor or nurse (yes, one person [Reference], yes, more than one person, and no), and family poverty ratio [FPL] (400+ poverty [Reference], <100% poverty, 100-199% poverty, and 200-399% poverty).

3.4 Statistical Analysis

All analyses were done using R, a programming language used for statistical computing. The R package called "survey" was used for conducting weighted and stratified analyses of the combined datasets from all three years. Survey weighted and stratified analyses were developed to ensure percentages for each variable on ASD cases and non-ASD cases are representative of the U.S. population. Univariate analysis was used to help determine if there was a proportional difference between the two main predictors, preterm birth and birth weight status, and sociodemographic characteristics on both ASD outcomes. In the univariate and multivariate analyses, the odds ratio and confidence intervals were obtained for each variable. Odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) examine the strength of the correlation between two events, in this case being ASD outcome and premature birth and/or low birth weight. Three logistic regression models were employed to examine any effects that may be due to prematurity alone, prematurity & birth weight status, and prematurity, birth weight status, & socio-demographic characteristics on the two ASD outcomes.

Since logistic regression models were created in the analyses, OR and 95% CIs were calculated in the univariate and multivariate analyses. Further, given the low ASD rate of <10%, Chen, Cohen, & Chen's (2010) framework for interpreting OR was used to interpret the analyses in this paper. They propose that ORs of 1.68, 3.47, and 6.71 are interpreted as small (d = 0.2), medium (d = 0.5), and large (d = 0.8), respectively, where d is the popular standardized mean difference for parametric outcome data (Chen, Cohen, & Chen, 2010).

Chapter IV: Results

4.1 Table 1 Results

The weighted percentages of the predictor variables from the 2016-2018 NSCH are shown in Table 1. The table includes data on the total sample (N = 102,341) of children from birth to 17 years old with and without ASD, separating children who had ever been told they have ASD and children who currently have ASD (from the time their caregivers filled out the surveys). For every variable, "ever told" and "currently" had almost the same percentage, so there was no difference when comparing both ASD outcomes. About 4% of preterm infants had ASD, while about 2% of preterm infants did not have ASD. There was a greater prevalence of autism among VLBW (~5%) when compared to children with no LBW (2.3-2.4%) and children with a LBW (3.1-3.3%). There was a small difference in the percentages for ASD across all age ranges for mother's age at birth, but mothers 30-34 years old had the lowest percentage of children with ASD (2%) compared to mothers 18-24 years old (~2.5%). Further, the percentages for ASD among Hispanic children was 3%, which was greater than the other races and ethnicities who also had ASD. Almost 4% of males and 1.1% of females had ASD, which is consistent with the literature stating that males are almost 4 times greater than females to have autism (CDC, 2020a; Frazier et al., 2014; Leavey et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2012; Msall, 2010). Additionally, age was a good ASD indicator when separated into age categories; older children (9-12 & ≥13 years of age) were more likely to be diagnosed with ASD (~3%), while younger children were least likely to be diagnosed (0.7% to 2.7%). Developmental delays and intellectual disabilities are also predictors associated with ASD: 25.5 to 26.7% of children with developmental delays also had ASD, and 40.8 to 41% of children with intellectual disabilities also had ASD. Children who were an only child (2.9-3.1%) or the oldest (2.7-2.9%) among their siblings were more likely to be diagnosed with ASD compared to children who were the third or greater oldest child (1.3%). Parents who were not married, parents who had an education of high school or less, and those with usual source of care were greater associated with an ASD diagnosis. There was no association between primary household language and ASD. In addition, having more than one personal doctor or nurse, being in the <100% FPL, and having both public and private health insurance were greater associated with an ASD diagnosis.

Table 1Percentages of predictor variables from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2016-2018

Variable	Sample	ASD (Ever	Non-ASD	ASD	Non-ASD
	Size (N)	Told)	(Ever Told)	(Currently)	(Currently)
Total	102,341	2.6%	97.4%	2.4%	97.6%
Preterm					
No	90,042	2.2%	97.8%	2.1%	97.9%
Yes	10,935	4.4%	95.6%	4.1%	95.9%
Birth Weight Status					
Not LBW	89,023	2.4%	97.6%	2.3%	97.7%
LBW (1500-2500g)	6,617	3.3%	96.7%	3.1%	96.9%
VLBW (<1500g)	1,238	5.5%	94.5%	4.7%	95.3%
Mother's Age at Birth					
18-24	17,743	2.6%	97.4%	2.4%	97.6%
25-29	25,753	2.7%	97.3%	2.5%	97.5%
30-34	31,307	2.1%	97.9%	2.0%	98.0%
≥35	23,438	2.8%	97.2%	2.7%	97.3%
Race/Ethnicity					
Non-Hispanic White	71,294	2.3%	97.7%	2.1%	97.9%
Non-Hispanic Black	6,207	2.9%	97.1%	2.6%	97.4%
Hispanic	11,622	3.1%	96.9%	3.0%	97.0%
Other	13,218	2.0%	98.0%	1.9%	98.1%
Child's Sex					
Female	49,564	1.1%	98.9%	1.1%	98.9%
Male	52,777	3.9%	96.1%	3.7%	96.3%
Child's Age					
<4	19,030	0.8%	99.2%	0.7%	99.3%
4-8	24,640	2.7%	97.3%	2.5%	97.5%
9-12	22,312	3.2%	96.8%	3.0%	97.0%
≥13	36,359	3.2%	96.8%	3.0%	97.0%
Developmental Delays					
No	95,502	0.9%	99.1%	0.8%	99.2%
Yes	6,839	26.7%	73.3%	25.5%	74.5%
Intellectual Disability					
No	101,214	2.1%	97.9%	2.0%	98.0%
Yes	1,127	41.0%	59.0%	40.8%	59.2%
Birth Order					
Only Child	42,145	3.1%	96.9%	2.9%	97.1%
Oldest Child	26,765	2.9%	97.1%	2.7%	97.3%

Second Oldest	26,084	2.3%	97.7%	2.2%	97.8%
Third or Greater Oldest	7,347	1.3%	98.7%	1.3%	98.7%
Family Structure					
2 Parents Married	73,287	2.2%	97.8%	2.1%	97.9%
2 Parents Not Married	6,602	3.6%	96.4%	3.3%	96.7%
Single Mother	15,096	3.3%	96.7%	3.1%	96.9%
Other	5,617	3.0%	97.0%	2.4%	97.6%
Primary Language in HH					
English	95,071	2.6%	97.4%	2.4%	97.6%
Non-English	6,601	2.4%	97.6%	2.3%	97.7%
Parental Education					
High School or less	15,157	3.0%	97.0%	2.9%	97.1%
More than High School	85,987	2.4%	97.6%	2.2%	97.8%
Usual Source of Care					
Usual Source	84,205	2.7%	97.3%	2.6%	97.4%
No Usual Source	17,752	2.0%	98.0%	1.8%	98.2%
Personal Doctor or Nurse					
No	22,991	2.3%	97.7%	2.2%	97.8%
Yes, One Person	57,625	2.2%	97.8%	2.0%	98.0%
Yes, More than One	21,209	3.7%	96.3%	3.5%	96.5%
Person	21,207	5.170	70.570	5.570	70.570
Poverty Level					
<100% Poverty	11,254	3.3%	96.7%	3.2%	96.8%
100-199% Poverty	16,340	3.1%	96.9%	2.9%	97.1%
200-399% Poverty	31,381	2.3%	97.7%	2.1%	97.9%
400+ Poverty	43,366	1.8%	98.2%	1.7%	98.3%
Health Insurance					
Uninsured	4,565	1.9%	98.1%	1.9%	98.1%
Public Only	19,610	3.6%	96.4%	3.4%	96.6%
Private Only	73,478	1.7%	98.3%	1.6%	98.4%
Public and Private	3,762	6.2%	93.8%	5.9%	94.1%

Note. Sample size is the raw number of selected children.

4.2 Table 2 Results

The univariate analysis for each predictor variable and "ever told" and "currently" ASD outcomes are shown in Table 2 using the Chen, Cohen, & Chen (2010) OR interpretations. Being born preterm had a moderate association with both ASD outcomes [ORever: 1.98; 95% CI: 1.54, 2.55; ORcurrent: 1.99; 95% CI: 1.52, 2.59). Further, the odds of having autism was greater among children born with a VLBW (<1,500g) [ORever: 2.35; 95% CI: 1.46, 3.78; ORcurrent: 2.13 95% CI: 1.28, 3.54], a moderate association, compared to children with a LBW [ORever: 1.37; 95% CI: 1.09, 1.74; ORcurrent: 1.39; 95% CI: 1.09, 1.77], a small association. All age ranges for mother's age at birth had a weak association with both ASD outcomes. Further, being non-Hispanic White and Black also had a small effect on both ASD outcomes, but being Hispanic had a moderate effect on both ASD outcomes [ORever: 1.55; 95% CI: 1.12, 2.14; ORcurrent: 1.62; 95% CI:1.16, 2.25]. Being male also had a moderate effect on both ASD outcomes [ORever: 3.62; 95% CI: 2.85, 4.59; ORcurrent: 3.56; 95% CI: 2.78, 4.58]. All age ranges for the selected child had a moderate effect on ASD outcomes, with ages 9-12 and >13 years having greater odds among the "currently" ASD diagnosis. Moreover, both developmental delays [ORever: 40.23; 95% CI: 31.82, 50.87; ORcurrent: 41.87; 95% CI: 32.55, 53.84] and intellectual disabilities [ORever: 32.17; 95% CI: 23.50, 44.04; ORcurrent: 34.55; 95% CI: 25.17, 47.43] had a very strong association with the ASD outcomes. Children of any birth order had a moderate association with ASD outcomes, but being the only child had the greatest odds [ORever: 2.34; 95% CI: 1.59, 3.44; ORcurrent; 2.25; 95% CI: 1.52, 3.34]. Among family structure, all had a weak association with ASD outcomes, except for 2 parents not married and its moderate association to only the "ever told" ASD outcome [OR: 1.67; 95% CI: 1.11, 2.51]. Having English as the primary household language, parents having an education of high school or less, and having a usual source of care all had small effects among ASD outcomes. Having more than one personal doctor or nurse [ORever: 1.72; 95% CI: 1.44, 2.07; ORcurrent: 1.79; 95% CI: 1.48, 2.16] had a moderate association among ASD outcomes, while having no personal doctor or nurse [ORever: 1.06; 95% CI: 0.80, 1.41; ORcurrent: 1.10; 95% CI: 0.82, 1.48] had a weak association among ASD outcomes. Children living in the <100% FPL [ORever: 1.84; 95%] CI: 1.40, 2.41; ORcurrent: 1.92; 95% CI: 1.45, 2.54] had greater odds, a moderate effect, of being diagnosed with ASD compared to children living in 200-399% FPL [ORever: 1.23; 95%] CI: 1.03, 1.48; ORcurrent: 1.25; 95% CI: 1.03, 1.51], a small effect. Lastly, the odds of having ASD was greater for those who had both private and public health insurance [OR: 3.77; 95% CI: 2.84, 5.01; ORcurrent: 3.82: 95% CI: 2.84, 5.13], a moderate effect, compared to public health insurance alone [OR: 2.15; 95% CI: 1.74, 2.66; ORcurrent: 2.17; 95% CI: 1.74, 2.71], a moderate effect, or those who were uninsured [OR: 1.12; 95% CI: 0.66, 1.89; ORcurrent: 1.16; 95% CI: 0.67, 2.00], a small effect.

Table 2Univariate analyses displaying the odds of ASD diagnosis by predictor variables from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2016-2018

Variable	OR (95% CI) [Ever Told]	p-value [Ever Told]	OR (95% CI) [Currently]	p-value [Currently]
Preterm				
No	REF	REF	REF	REF
Yes	1.98 (1.54, 2.55)	< 0.001	1.99 (1.52, 2.59)	< 0.001
Birth Weight Status				
Not LBW	REF	REF	REF	REF
LBW (1500-2500g)	1.37 (1.09, 1.74)	0.01	1.39 (1.09, 1.77)	0.01
VLBW (<1500g)	2.35 (1.46, 3.78)	0.00	2.13 (1.28, 3.54)	0.00
Mother's Age at Birth				
18-24	REF	REF	REF	REF
25-29	1.04 (0.80, 1.37)	0.75	1.07 (0.81, 1.41)	0.63
30-34	0.81 (0.64, 1.02)	0.07	0.84 (0.67, 1.06)	0.15
≥35	1.08 (0.80, 1.45)	0.64	1.12 (0.83, 1.53)	0.46
Race/Ethnicity				
Other	REF	REF	REF	REF
Non-Hispanic White	1.14 (0.94, 1.39)	0.17	1.14 (0.93, 1.39)	0.20
Non-Hispanic Black	1.42 (1.04, 1.94)	0.03	1.40 (1.02, 1.91)	0.04
Hispanic	1.55 (1.12, 2.14)	0.01	1.62 (1.16, 2.25)	0.00
Child's Sex				
Female	REF	REF	REF	REF
Male	3.62 (2.85, 4.59)	< 0.001	3.56 (2.78, 4.58)	< 0.001
Child's Age				
<4	REF	REF	REF	REF
4-8	3.38 (2.16, 5.29)	< 0.001	3.79 (2.45, 5.88)	< 0.001
9-12	4.05 (2.61, 6.29)	< 0.001	4.55 (2.96, 6.99)	< 0.001
≥13	4.07 (2.65, 6.27)	< 0.001	4.54 (2.98, 6.91)	< 0.001
Developmental Delays				

No	REF	REF	REF	REF
No Yes	40.23 (31.82,	<0.001	41.87 (32.55,	<0.001
1 62	40.23 (31.82, 50.87)	\0.001	41.87 (32.33, 53.84)	\0.001
Intellectual Disabilities	30.07)		55.0 1)	
No	REF	REF	REF	REF
Yes	32.17 (23.50,	< 0.001	34.55 (25.17,	< 0.001
	44.04)		47.43)	
Birth Order				
Third or Greater Oldest	REF	REF	REF	REF
Only Child	2.34 (1.59, 3.44)	< 0.001	2.25 (1.52, 3.34)	< 0.001
Oldest	2.25 (1.53, 3.32)	< 0.001	2.12 (1.43, 3.14)	0.00
Second Oldest	1.78 (1.17, 2.71)	0.01	1.70 (1.10, 2.62)	0.02
Family Structure				
2 Parents Married	REF	REF	REF	REF
2 Parents Not Married	1.67 (1.11, 2.51)	0.01	1.61 (1.04, 2.49)	0.03
Single Mother	1.50 (1.22, 1.85)	0.00	1.50 (1.21, 1.87)	0.00
Other	1.35 (0.95, 1.91)	0.09	1.15 (0.83, 1.61)	0.39
Primary Language in HH				
Non-English	REF	REF	REF	REF
English	1.10 (0.73, 1.66)	0.66	1.06 (0.69, 1.61)	0.80
Parental Education				
More than High School	REF	REF	REF	REF
High School or Less	1.28 (1.00, 1.63)	0.049	1.34 (1.04, 1.72)	0.02
Usual Source of Care				
No Usual Source	REF	REF	REF	REF
Usual Source	1.39 (1.07, 1.82)	0.02	1.47 (1.12, 1.94)	0.01
Personal Doctor or Nurse				
Yes, One Person	REF	REF	REF	REF
Yes, More than One Person	1.72 (1.44, 2.07)	< 0.001	1.79 (1.48, 2.16)	< 0.001
No	1.06 (0.80, 1.41)	0.69	1.10 (0.82, 1.48)	0.52
Poverty Level				
400+ Poverty	REF	REF	REF	REF
< 100% Poverty	1.84 (1.40, 2.41)	< 0.001	1.92 (1.45, 2.54)	< 0.001
100 – 199% Poverty	1.73 (1.33, 2.24)	< 0.001	1.69 (1.29, 2.23)	0.00
200 – 399% Poverty	1.23 (1.03, 1.48)	0.02	1.25 (1.03, 1.51)	0.02

Health Insurance				
Private Only	REF	REF	REF	REF
Public Only	2.15 (1.74, 2.66)	< 0.001	2.17 (1.74, 2.71)	< 0.001
Public and Private	3.77 (2.84, 5.01)	< 0.001	3.82 (2.84, 5.13)	< 0.001
Uninsured	1.12 (0.66, 1.89)	0.68	1.16 (0.67, 2.00)	0.60

Note. Odds ratios (ORs) of 1.68, 3.47, and 6.71 are interpreted as small (d = 0.2), medium (d = 0.5), and large (d = 0.8),

respectively; d is the standardized mean difference (Chen, Cohen, & Chen, 2010).

4.3 Table 3 Results

Logistic regression models for the relationship between "ever told" ASD and gestational age, birth weight, and the socio-demographic variables are shown in Table 3 using the Chen, Cohen, & Chen (2010) OR interpretations. Model 1 displays the univariate analysis between preterm birth and "ever told" ASD diagnosis. Model 2 displays the bivariate analysis between preterm birth & birth weight status and "ever told" ASD diagnosis. Model 3 displays the multivariate analysis between preterm birth, birth weight status, & socio-demographic characteristics and "ever told" ASD diagnosis. In models 1 and 2, preterm birth had a moderate association with ASD. In models 2 and 3, birth weight status had a weak association with ASD. Preterm birth had a weak association with ASD in model 3 when other variables were controlled for. Model 3 shows that the odds for mother's age at birth was greater among \geq 35-year-olds, a small association, compared to the other ages. The odds for race/ethnicity was greater among Hispanic children, a small effect, compared to the other race and ethnicities. Furthermore, being male had a moderate association with having an ASD outcome [OR: 2.54]. All ages for the selected child had a moderate association with ASD, but children ages 9-12 years old had greater odds of being diagnosed with ASD [OR: 4.01]. Children with developmental delays had a very large association with having ASD [OR: 32.49], while children with intellectual disabilities had only a moderate association with having ASD [OR: 2.65]. Among birth order, children who were an only child had greater odds of having ASD [OR: 2.32], a moderate effect, compared to the oldest child [OR: 1.92], a moderate effect, and to the second oldest child [OR: 1.67], a small effect. Children who had 2 parents not married had greater odds of having ASD, a small effect. compared to children with a single mother and to other family structures. Having English as the primary household language, parents having an education of high school or less, and having a usual source of care were all weak associations among the ASD outcome. The odds of having autism was greater among children with no personal doctor or nurse, a small effect, compared to children with more than one personal doctor or nurse, which is the opposite from the univariate analysis in Table 2. Further, children living in the 100-199% FPL had greater odds of having ASD [OR: 1.25], a small effect, as did children with both public and private health insurance [OR: 1.72], a moderate effect.

Table 3Logistic Regression Models displaying the relationship between Ever Told ASD diagnosis, gestational age, birth weight, and socio-demographics from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2016-2018

Variables		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3	
	β	OR (95% CI)	p-value	β	OR (95% CI)	p-value	β	OR (95% CI)	p-value
(Intercept)	-3.77	0.02 (0.02, 0.03)	< 0.001	-3.76	0.02 (0.02, 0.03)	< 0.001	-7.48	0.00 (0.00, 0.00)	< 0.001
Preterm									
No (Ref)									
Yes	0.68	1.98 (1.54, 2.55)	< 0.001	0.67	1.96 (1.38, 2.78)	0.00	0.35	1.43 (0.88, 2.32)	0.15
Birth Weight Status									
Not LBW (Ref)									
LBW (1500-2500g)				-0.09	0.91 (0.66, 1.26)	0.57	-0.47	0.63 (0.40, 0.98)	0.04
VLBW (<1500g)				0.31	1.36 (0.78, 2.38)	0.28	-0.70	0.50 (0.22, 1.11)	0.09
Mother's Age at Birth									
18-24 (Ref)									
25-29							0.16	1.17 (0.88, 1.56)	0.27
30-34							0.11	1.12 (0.84, 1.49)	0.44
≥35							0.33	1.40 (1.00, 1.96)	0.05
Race/Ethnicity									

Non-Hispanic Other			
(Ref)			
Non-Hispanic White	-0.08	0.92 (0.72, 1.17)	0.50
Non-Hispanic Black	-0.19	0.83 (0.53, 1.28)	0.39
Hispanic	0.15	1.16 (0.84, 1.59)	0.37
Child's Sex			
Female (Ref)			
Male	0.93	2.54 (1.93, 3.34)	< 0.001
Child's Age			
<4 (Ref)			
4-8	1.02	2.76 (1.68, 4.53)	< 0.001
9-12	1.39	4.01 (2.42, 6.67)	< 0.001
≥13	1.31	3.71 (2.24, 6.15)	< 0.001
Developmental Delays			
No (Ref)			
Yes	3.48	32.49 (26.10,	< 0.001
Intellectual Disabilities		40.43)	
No (Ref)			
Yes	0.97	2.65 (1.88, 3.74)	< 0.001

Birth Oder			
Third or Greater Oldest (Ref)			
Only Child	0.84	2.32 (1.49, 3.63)	0.00
Oldest Child	0.65	1.92 (1.26, 2.93)	0.00
Second Oldest Child	0.51	1.67 (1.08, 2.56)	0.02
Family Structure			
2 Parents Married (Ref)			
2 Parents Not Married	0.14	1.15 (0.76, 1.73)	0.51
Single Mother	-0.05	0.95 (0.72, 1.25)	0.71
Other	-0.43	0.65 (0.38, 1.12)	0.12
Primary Language in HH			
Non-English (Ref)			
English	-0.09	0.91 (0.57, 1.44)	0.69
Parental Education			
More than High School (Ref)			
High School or Less	-0.06	0.94 (0.72, 1.23)	0.67
Usual Source of Care			
No Usual Source (Ref)			

Usual Source	0.24	1.27 (0.90, 1.77)	0.17
Personal Doctor or Nurse			
Yes, One Person (Ref)			
Yes, More than One Person	0.01	1.01 (0.82, 1.24)	0.95
No	0.09	1.09 (0.79, 1.51)	0.61
Poverty Level			
400+ Poverty (Ref)			
< 100% Poverty	0.12	1.13 (0.80, 1.58)	0.49
100 – 199% Poverty	0.22	1.25 (0.94, 1.67)	0.13
200 – 399% Poverty	0.06	1.06 (0.84, 1.34)	0.61
Health Insurance			
Private Only (Ref)			
Public Only	0.36	1.43 (1.08, 1.90)	0.01
Public and Private	0.54	1.72 (1.23, 2.40)	0.00
Uninsured	0.35	1.42 (0.76, 2.65)	0.27

Note. Odds ratios (ORs) of 1.68, 3.47, and 6.71 are interpreted as small (d = 0.2), medium (d = 0.5), and large (d = 0.8), respectively; d is the standardized mean difference (Chen, Cohen, & Chen, 2010).

4.4 Table 4 Results

Logistic regression models for the relationship between "currently" ASD and gestational age, birth weight, and the socio-demographic variables are shown in Table 4 using the Chen, Cohen, & Chen (2010) OR interpretations. Model 1 displays the univariate analysis between preterm birth and "currently" ASD diagnosis. Model 2 displays the bivariate analysis between preterm birth & birth weight status and "currently" ASD diagnosis. Model 3 displays the multivariate analysis between preterm birth, birth weight status, & socio-demographic characteristics and "currently" ASD diagnosis. In models 1 and 2, preterm birth had a moderate association with ASD. In models 2 and 3, birth weight status had a weak association with ASD. Preterm birth had a weak association with ASD in model 3 when other variables were controlled for. Model 3 shows that the odds for mother's age at birth was greater among \geq 35-year-olds, a small effect, when compared to the other ages. The odds for race/ethnicity was greater among Hispanic children, a small effect, when compared to the other race and ethnicities. Furthermore, being male had a moderate association with having autism [OR: 2.44]. All ages for the selected child had a moderate association with ASD, but children ages 9-12 years old had greater odds of being diagnosed with autism [OR: 4.76]. Children with developmental delays had a very large association with having ASD [OR: 33.75], while children with intellectual disabilities had only a moderate association with having ASD [OR: 2.85]. Among birth order, children who were an only child had greater odds of having ASD [OR: 2.21], a moderate effect, compared to the oldest child [OR: 1.71], a moderate effect, and to the second oldest child [OR: 1.54], a small effect. Children who had 2 parents not married had greater odds of having ASD, a small effect, compared to children with a single mother and to other family structures. Having English as the primary household language, parents having an education of high school or less, and having a usual source of care were all weak associations among ASD. The odds of having ASD was greater among children with no personal doctor or nurse, a small effect, compared to children with more than one personal doctor or nurse, which is the opposite from the univariate analysis in Table 2. Further, children living in the 100-199% FPL had greater odds of having ASD [OR: 1.21], a small effect, as did children with both public and private health insurance [OR: 1.66], a moderate effect.

Table 4

Logistic Regression Models displaying the relationship between Currently ASD diagnosis, gestational age, birth weight, and socio-demographics from the National Survey of Children's Health, 2016-2018

β 3.84	OR (95% CI) 0.02 (0.02, 0.02)	p-value <0.001	β -3.83	OR (95% CI) 0.02 (0.02, 0.02)	p-value <0.001	β -7.73	OR (95% CI)	p-value
3.84	0.02 (0.02, 0.02)	<0.001	-3.83	0.02 (0.02, 0.02)	< 0.001	7 72		
						-1.13	$0.00 \ (0.00, 0.00)$	< 0.001
).69	1.99 (1.52, 2.59)	< 0.001	0.70	2.01 (1.39, 2.90)	0.00	0.38	1.47 (0.89, 2.44)	0.14
			-0.10	0.90 (0.64, 1.27)	0.57	-0.47	0.62 (0.39, 0.99)	0.05
			0.19	1.21 (0.67, 2.19)	0.54	-0.88	0.41 (0.18, 0.96)	0.04
						0.15	1.16 (0.86, 1.56)	0.33
						0.13	1.14 (0.35, 1.54)	0.38
						0.34	1.40 (0.99, 1.99)	0.06
	0.69	0.69 1.99 (1.52, 2.59)	0.69 1.99 (1.52, 2.59) < 0.001	-0.10	-0.10 0.90 (0.64, 1.27)	-0.10 0.90 (0.64, 1.27) 0.57	-0.10	-0.10 0.90 (0.64, 1.27) 0.57 -0.47 0.62 (0.39, 0.99) 0.19 1.21 (0.67, 2.19) 0.54 -0.88 0.41 (0.18, 0.96) 0.15 1.16 (0.86, 1.56) 0.13 1.14 (0.35, 1.54)

Non-Hispanic Other			
(Ref) Non-Hispanic White	-0.12	0.88 (0.69, 1.13)	0.33
Non-Hispanic Black	-0.24	0.79 (0.51, 1.20)	0.27
Hispanic	0.16	1.17 (0.85, 1.62)	0.33
Child's Sex			
Female (Ref)			
Male	0.89	2.44 (1.83, 3.25)	< 0.001
Child's Age			
<4 (Ref)			
4-8	1.17	3.22 (2.05, 5.05)	< 0.001
9-12	1.56	4.76 (3.01, 7.51)	< 0.001
≥13	1.47	4.35 (2.81, 6.72)	< 0.001
Developmental Delays			
No (Ref)			
Yes	3.52	33.75 (26.90, 42.34)	< 0.001
Intellectual Disabilities			
No (Ref)			
Yes	1.05	2.85 (2.03, 4.00)	< 0.001

Birth Oder			
Third or Greater Oldest (Ref)			
Only Child	0.79	2.21 (1.39, 3.50)	0.00
Oldest Child	0.54	1.71 (1.13, 2.59)	0.01
Second Oldest Child	0.43	1.54 (0.99, 2.40)	0.05
Family Structure			
2 Parents Married (Ref)			
2 Parents Not Married	0.03	1.03 (0.67, 1.58)	0.90
Single Mother	-0.09	0.91 (0.68, 1.21)	0.52
Other	-0.77	0.47 (0.29, 0.75)	0.00
Primary Language in HH			
Non-English (Ref)			
English	-0.09	0.91 (0.57, 1.47)	0.71
Parental Education			
More than High School (Ref)			
High School or Less	0.01	1.01 (0.78, 1.32)	0.93
Usual Source of Care			

No Usual Source (Ref)			
Usual Source	0.33	1.39 (0.99, 1.94)	0.05
Personal Doctor or Nurse			
Yes, One Person (Ref)			
Yes, More than One	0.06	1.07 (0.87, 1.31)	0.55
Person No	0.15	1.16 (0.83, 1.61)	0.39
Poverty Level			
400+ Poverty (Ref)			
< 100% Poverty	0.18	1.20 (0.84, 1.70)	0.31
100 – 199% Poverty	0.19	1.21 (0.90, 1.63)	0.21
200 – 399% Poverty	0.08	1.08 (0.85, 1.38)	0.51
Health Insurance			
Private Only (Ref)			
Public Only	0.35	1.42 (1.05, 1.91)	0.02
Public and Private	0.51	1.66 (1.18, 2.34)	0.00
Uninsured	0.39	1.47 (0.77, 2.80)	0.24

Note. Odds ratios (ORs) of 1.68, 3.47, and 6.71 are interpreted as small (d = 0.2), medium (d = 0.5), and large (d = 0.8), respectively; d is the standardized mean difference (Chen, Cohen, & Chen, 2010).

Chapter V: Conclusion

5.1 Discussion of Research Question

In the present study, there was a greater ASD prevalence among preterm children compared to non-preterm children. There was also a moderate association between preterm birth and ASD, but when controlling for secondary variables, prematurity on ASD outcomes was no longer significant. Further, children born with a very low birth weight (<1,500g) had a greater ASD prevalence compared to children with a low birth weight (1,500-2,500g) and to children who were born with a normal weight. Having a VLBW had a moderate association to ASD, but was no longer significant when controlling for secondary variables.

This analysis fits in with previous literature that has reported an association between preterm birth and ASD (Agrawal et al., 2018; Gray et al., 2015; Hadjkacem et al., 2016; Joseph et al., 2016; Kuzniewicz et al., 2014; Lampi et al., 2010; Leavey et al., 2013; Lederman et al., 2018; Limperopoulos et al., 2008b; Limperopoulos, 2009; Sahin et al., 2019; Schendel & Bhasin, 2008; Sharma et al., 2018; Stephens et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2017). The present analysis showed a weak association between VLBW and LBW on ASD outcomes in the logistic regression models, but the odds of VLBW status was greater than no LBW weight in the univariate analysis. The literature has shown a mix of findings among LBW infants and an ASD diagnosis (Pyhälä et al., 2014), which was seen with the present analysis as well; in particular, the 2011-2012 NSCH study that found no association among LBW and ASD (Ghadge et al., 2016). Previous literature has shown that the lower the birth weight, the greater the risk for having ASD, which was seen in the present analysis when other variables were not controlled for (table 1; Dudova et al., 2014; Limperopoulos et al., 2008a; Losh et al., 2012; Pyhälä et al., 2014). When considered in light of the previous literature, it is clear that greater care must be taken to include relevant covariates to determine the precise relationship between premature birth, birthweight and ASD status.

5.2 Discussion of Secondary Variables

Many of the covariates used in the present analysis have also been used in previous studies, which helped guide this paper. For example, the age of the mother at birth has often been included in research with similar hypotheses, which is examining the relationship between preterm birth and/or LBW and ASD outcomes. The present analysis, however, included ages 18 to 45 for mother's age at birth, while most studies include only ages 35 and older; nevertheless, our analysis showed greater odds among older mothers (≥35 years), though a small effect, being more likely to give birth to a child with ASD compared to younger mothers (Durkin et al., 2008; Pinborough-Zimmerman, et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2018). Furthermore, while the present analysis found greater odds of ASD among being an only child (a moderate association), other researchers have found increased odds of ASD in children who were older in the birth order (Frazier et al., 2014; Simon et al., 2013). Additionally, this analysis, along with previous findings, showed the statistical significance of males being more likely to have autism compared to females (CDC, 2020a; Frazier et al., 2014; Leavey et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2012; Wang et

al., 2017). Moreover, the present analysis showed a greater ASD prevalence among Hispanic children, but there have been a variety of findings in ASD outcomes among all race and ethnicities; some researchers have shown greater ASD prevalence among Hispanic children (Nevison, & Parker, 2020; Nevison, & Zahorodny, 2019; Simon et al., 2013), while others have found greater ASD prevalence among non-Hispanic White children (Pinborough-Zimmerman, et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2017). Thus, these data resonate with the previous literature indicating that maternal age, presence of siblings, gender, and race/ethnicity are important sources of variance related to ASD status.

There are some differences, however, in the present analysis compared to previous literature. A study that used the NS-CSHCN included ASD severity in their analysis and found that to be associated with the age at which children get diagnosed with autism; this could be an important predictor in the present analysis that determines how soon or late preterm children are being diagnosed with autism and to determine how severe their autism is based on their actual gestation age and their birth weight (Jo et al., 2015). The present analysis, however, only aimed at determining whether or not there was an association between preterm birth & low birth weight status in ASD cases. It's also important to note that most of the literature excluded participants with other disabilities, disorders, or impairments from their studies (Agrawal et al., 2018; Brayette et al., 2019; Dudova et al., 2014; Hadjkacem et al., 2016; Harel-Gadassi et al., 2018; Ikejiri et al., 2016; Joseph et al., 2016; Joseph et al., 2017; Kerstjens et al., 2012; Kuban et al., 2009; Lampi et al., 2010; Lederman et al., 2018; Limperopoulos, 2008b; Pyhälä et al., 2014; Stephens et al., 2012), which is why this analysis also excluded them. Future research should aim to determine if prematurity and birth weight are unique to ASD status, or part of a general relationship to disability.

5.3 Outcomes of the Current Analysis

The current analysis included two outcomes: "Has a doctor or other health care provider EVER told you that this child has Autism or Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)?" and "Does this child CURRENTLY have the condition?" Other studies usually only include one ASD outcome, whether the child screened positive through the M-CHAT or through another ASD screening or diagnostic tool. Although the percentages in Table 1 were almost identical between "ever told" and "currently" ASD outcomes, some variables had greater odds among "ever told" vs. "currently", and vice-versa. For example, VLBW was more significant among the "ever told" outcome (Table 3), while child's age was more significant among the "currently" outcome (Table 4). Some predictors had a small association with ASD among "ever told" but had a moderate association with ASD among "currently", and vice-versa. Since these differences were observed, it was important to include both ASD outcomes in the analysis. Further, this stands out from previous literature because even if a child had ever been told they have ASD, it does not mean that they currently have the condition, which is why "currently" is a sub question of "ever told." Indeed, some children who receive an early ASD diagnosis may 'outgrow' their symptoms, thus resulting in a different diagnosis later on in life (National Institutes of Health, 2015). As such, consideration of both EVER and CURRENT ASD status helped to control for effects of children whose ASD diagnosis may have changed over time.

5.4 Discussion of Strengths

The current analysis included many variables that have been included in other studies, such as mother's age at birth, preterm birth, birth weight status, birth order, health insurance status, sex, race/ethnicity, family poverty level, and parental education. It was also important and beneficial to include both outcomes, "ever told" and "currently", because there were some differences and it gave a better understanding as to how one can be more significant than the other. Moreover, the current analysis also included a large sample size because the NSCH is a national survey whose weights and stratifications result in an adequate representation of the U.S. population of children birth to 17. Considering that there is a fair amount of variance across studies in terms of the representativeness of their sample sizes and proportion of their sample with ASD (Agrawal et al., 2018; Johnson et al., 2010; Lampi et al., 2010; Limperopoulos et al., 2008b; Stephens et al., 2012), use of the NSCH helps provide estimates and results that are more likely representative of the population at large. Furthermore, the large sample allowed us to control for a more relevant co-variates than smaller sample more typical of clinical population.

5.5 Discussion of Limitations

In this analysis, there were some limitations. For example, studies have shown that maternal factors, such as pre-, peri-, and post-natal characteristics are risk factors for autism spectrum disorder, but NSCH did not include these factors. For example, previous literature has asked questions about delivery methods, fetal distress, and parity (Hadjkacem et al., 2016; Kuzniewicz et al., 2014; Şahin et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2017), but the NSCH survey did not include questions about the mother's pregnancy or delivery. Finally, previous literature has included maternal hypertension and maternal diabetes as risk factors for autism (Hadjkacem et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017), but the NSCH also did not have these available.

Although the NSCH survey had its advantages given the large sample size, there was no follow-up given that it was a cross-sectional survey; a cross-sectional survey only measures a certain point in time so it cannot analyze behavior or health and well-being over a period of time (Setia, 2016). Moreover, since the NSCH is a self-completed questionnaire, the parents/caregivers may have trouble recalling some information and/or events, misinterpret the questions, or leave some questions blank (Debois, 2019). Also, the NSCH only asks whether or not the selected child had ever been told or if they currently had ASD, but it would be helpful to ask which diagnostic tool was used to assess and diagnose the disorder. Finally, the NSCH did not provide different categories for preterm birth (e.g., extremely [<28 weeks] or very preterm [28-32 weeks]) like they did for birth weight status (VLBW, LBW, & not LBW), so it is unknown during which week of pregnancy the selected child was actually born in, whether between 24-26 weeks or 27-32 weeks, which can make a difference.

5.6 Future Directions

It is important to continue the research on whether prematurity and birth weight status are risk factors for ASD given the mix of supportive and non-supportive findings. Additionally, more research is also needed because there is "insufficient evidence to implicate any one

perinatal or neonatal factor in autism etiology" (Gardener et al., 2011, p. 349). Previously, it was not quite believed or known that prenatal and perinatal factors could be risk factors for ASD, but growing evidence indicates otherwise (Burd et al., 1999). If this is the case, the data and literature can help in prevention strategies, as well as decreasing the severity of the disorder (Burd et al., 1999).

Furthermore, it could be that being born extremely preterm is actually a risk factor for ASD, but it can also be that other developmental disabilities, aside from autism, can increase positive screening results, such as being marked as 'fail' on the M-CHAT even though the infant/child might not actually have any social or language impairments or disabilities (Kuban et al., 2009). It is also unclear if preterm infants with neurodevelopmental disabilities have been characterized as ASD more often because these disabilities and difficulties, such as attention, cognitive and language impairments often overlap with ASD symptoms, which makes it much more difficult to diagnose children with a specific disorder or disability (Harel-Gadassi et al., 2018; Kuzniewicz et al., 2014). That the presence of developmental delay was the strongest predictor of ASD, indicates that future research should be conducted to determine if prematurity and or low birth weight strongly predicts delays (CDC, 2019). It may be that the relationship between these variables and ASD is mediated by developmental delays, which are common to children with ASD.

Ultimately, there is limited research on ASD prevalence among infants who are born preterm and with a LBW, and "adequate resources are needed to improve the outcomes of these children" (Agrawal et al., 2018, p. 11). To conclude, the results from the present analysis can be used in research and in future interventions to show the importance of prenatal and perinatal care in order to reduce the prevalence in preterm births, while possibly decreasing the prevalence of autism or other developmental delays (Nitin et al., 2016).

REFERNCES

- 2016 National Survey of Children's Health Methodology Report. (2018, February 26). Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/programs-surveys/nsch/tech-documentation/methodology/2016-NSCH-Methodology-Report.pdf
- 2017 National Survey of Children's Health Methodology Report. (2018, August 02). Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/programs-surveys/nsch/tech-documentation/methodology/2017-NSCH-Methodology-Report.pdf
- 2018 National Survey of Children's Health Methodology Report. (2019, October 07). Retrieved from https://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/nsch/technical-documentation/methodology/2018-NSCH-Methodology-Report.pdf
- Agrawal, S., Rao, S. C., Bulsara, M. K., & Patole, S. K. (2018). Prevalence of Autism Spectrum

 Disorder in Preterm Infants: A Meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, *142*(3), 1-14. doi:

 10.1542/peds.2018-0134
- Amr, M., Bu Ali, W., Hablas, H., Raddad, D., El-Mehesh, F., El-Gilany, A. H., & Al-Shamy, H. (2012). Sociodemographic factors in Arab children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *The Pan African medical journal*, *13*, 65. https://www.panafrican-med-journal.com/content/article/13/65/full/
- Autism Diagnosis Criteria: DSM-5. (2020a). Retrieved October 27, 2020, from https://www.autismspeaks.org/autism-diagnosis-criteria-dsm-5
- Barger, B., Rice, C. & Roach, A. (2018). Response to Foreman's commentary on socioemotional surveillance in preschoolers. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health 23*(3), 217 – 219.

- Baron-Cohen, S. (2002). The extreme male brain theory of autism. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 6(6), 248-254. doi:10.1016/s1364-6613(02)01904-6
- Brayette, M., Saliba, E., Malvy, J., Blanc, R., Ponson, L., Tripi, G., ...& Bonnet-Brilhault, F. (2019). Incomplete Gestation has an Impact on Cognitive Abilities in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 49*(10), 4339–4345. doi: 10.1007/s10803-019-04105-x
- Burd L., Severud R., Kerbeshian J., & Klug M.G. (1999). Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for autism. *Journal of Perinatal Medicine*, 27(6), 441-450. doi:10.1515/JPM.1999.059
- Care of the preterm and low-birth-weight newborn. (2018a, November 14). Retrieved August 28, 2020, from https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/newborns/prematurity/en/
- Cheak-Zamora, N. C., Yang, X., Farmer, J. E., & Clark, M. (2012). Disparities in Transition Planning for Youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Pediatrics*, *131*(3), 447-454. doi:10.1542/peds.2012-1572
- Chen, H., Cohen, P., & Chen, S. (2010). How Big is a Big Odds Ratio? Interpreting the Magnitudes of Odds Ratios in Epidemiological Studies. *Communications in Statistics Simulation and Computation*, 39(4), 860-864. doi:10.1080/03610911003650383
- Data & Statistics on Autism Spectrum Disorder. (2020a, September 25). Retrieved October 2, 2020, from https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/data.html
- Debois, S. (2019, March 8). 10 Advantages and Disadvantages of Questionnaires. Retrieved November 27, 2020, from https://surveyanyplace.com/questionnaire-pros-and-cons/
- Downey, K., Jr. (2020, April 02). Autism prevalence rises 10% among 8-year-olds. Retrieved October 21, 2020, from https://www.healio.com/news/pediatrics/20200402/autism-prevalence-rises-10-among-8yearolds

- DSM-5 and Autism: Frequently Asked Questions. (2020b). Retrieved October 27, 2020, from https://www.autismspeaks.org/dsm-5-and-autism-frequently-asked-questions
- Dudova, I., Kasparova, M., Markova, D., Lukaskova, J., Beranova, S., Urbanek, T., & Hrdlicka,
 M. (2014). Screening for autism in preterm children with extremely low and very low
 birth weight. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 277. doi:10.2147/ndt.s57057
- Durkin, M. S., Maenner, M. J., Newschaffer, C. J., Lee, L., Cunniff, C. M., Daniels, J. L., . . . & Schieve, L. A. (2008). Advanced Parental Age and the Risk of Autism Spectrum

 Disorder. *American Journal of Epidemiology, 168*(11), 1268-1276.

 doi:10.1093/aje/kwn250
- Encyclopedia of Children's Health. (2020). Prenatal development. Retrieved October 23, 2020, from http://www.healthofchildren.com/P/Prenatal-Development.html
- Esler, A. (2015, September 04). Adjusting diagnostic tests for the DSM-5: Spectrum: Autism Research News. Retrieved October 27, 2020, from https://www.spectrumnews.org/opinion/adjusting-diagnostic-tests-for-the-dsm-5/
- Frazier, T. W., Youngstorm, E. A., Embacher, R., Hardan, A. Y., Constantino, J. N., Law, P., ... & Eng, C. (2014). Demographic and clinical correlates of autism symptom domains and autism spectrum diagnosis. *Autism*, *18*(5), 571-582. doi: 10.1177/1362361313481506
- Froehlich-Santino, W., Tobon, A. L., Cleveland, S., Torres, A., Phillips, J., Cohen, B., . . . & Hallmayer, J. (2014). Prenatal and perinatal risk factors in a twin study of autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *54*, 100-108. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.03.019
- Furfaro, H. (2019, May 1). The extreme male brain, explained. Retrieved September 13, 2020, from https://www.spectrumnews.org/news/extreme-male-brain-explained/

- Gardener, H., Spiegelman, D., & Buka, S. L. (2011). Perinatal and Neonatal Risk Factors for Autism: A Comprehensive Meta-Analysis. *Pediatrics*, *128*(2), 344-355. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-1036
- Ghadge, N., Killion, J., Nagavalli Aarigapudi, N., & Hasini, K. (2016). Effects of Low Birth

 Weight and Preterm Birth on Incidence of Autism Spectrum Disorder, *UNTHSC Scholar*.

 https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12503/26792
- Global Nutrition Targets 2025 Low Birth Weight Policy Brief. (2014). Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/149020/WHO_NMH_NHD_14.5_eng.p https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/149020/WHO_NMH_NHD_14.5_eng.p
- Goldin, R. L., & Matson, J. L. (2016). Premature birth as a risk factor for autism spectrum disorder. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 19(3), 203–206. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2015.1044132
- Gray, P. H., Edwards, D. M., O'callaghan, M. J., & Gibbons, K. (2015). Screening for autism spectrum disorder in very preterm infants during early childhood. *Early Human Development*, *91*(4), 271-276. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.02.007
- Hadjkacem, I., Ayadi, H., Turki, M., Yaich, S., Khemekhem, K., Walha, A., . . . & Ghribi, F.

 (2016). Prenatal, perinatal and postnatal factors associated with autism spectrum disorder. *Jornal De Pediatria*, 92(6), 595-601. doi:10.1016/j.jpedp.2016.08.011
- Hallmayer, J., Cleveland, S., Torres, A., Phillips, J., Cohen, B., Torigoe, T., . . . & Risch, N.
 (2011). Genetic Heritability and Shared Environmental Factors Among Twin Pairs with Autism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(11), 1095-1102.
 doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.76

- Harel-Gadassi, A., Friedlander, E., Yaari, M., Bar-Oz, B., Eventov-Friedman, S., Mankuta, D., & Yirmiya, N. (2018). Risk for ASD in Preterm Infants: A Three-Year Follow-Up Study.

 Autism Research and Treatment, 1–9. doi: 10.1155/2018/8316212
- Ikejiri, K., Hosozawa, M., Mitomo, S., Tanaka, K., & Shimizu, T. (2016). Reduced growth during early infancy in very low birth weight children with autism spectrum disorder. *Early Human Development*, 98, 23-27. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2016.05.001
- Jarquin, V. G., Wiggins, L. D., Schieve, L. A., & Naarden-Braun, K. V. (2011). Racial
 Disparities in Community Identification of Autism Spectrum Disorders Over Time;
 Metropolitan Atlanta, Georgia, 2000-2006. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 32(3), 179-187. doi: 10.1097/DBP.0b013e31820b4260.
- Jo, H., Schieve, L. A., Rice, C. E., Yeargin-Allsopp, M., Tian, L. H., Blumberg, S. J., & ...
 Boyle, C. A. (2015). Age at Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) Diagnosis by Race,
 Ethnicity, and Primary Household Language among Children with Special Health Care
 Needs, US 2009-2010. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 19(8), 1687-1697. doi:
 10.1007/s10995-015-1683-4
- Johnson, S., Hollis, C., Kochhar, P., Hennessy, E., Wolke, D., & Marlow, N. (2010). Autism spectrum disorders in extremely preterm children. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *156*(4), 525-531. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.10.041
- Joseph, R. M., Korzeniewski, S. J., Allred, E. N., O'Shea, T. M., Heeren, T., Frazier, J. A, & Kuban, K. (2017). Extremely low gestational age and very low birth weight for gestational age are risk factors for ASD in a large cohort study of 10-year-old children born 23-27 weeks' gestation. *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology, 216*(3), 1-16. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2016.11.1009.

- Joseph, R. M., O'shea, T. M., Allred, E. N., Heeren, T., Hirtz, D., Paneth, N., . . . & Kuban, K. C. (2016). Prevalence and associated features of autism spectrum disorder in extremely low gestational age newborns at age 10 years. *Autism Research*, 10(2), 224-232. doi:10.1002/aur.1644
- Kerstjens, J. M., De Winter, A. F., Bocca-Tjeertes, I. F., Bos, A. F., & Reijneveld, S. A. (2012).

 Risk of developmental delay increases exponentially as gestational age of preterm infants decreases: A cohort study at age 4 years. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 54(12), 1096-1101. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8749.2012.04423.x
- Kihara, H., & Nakamura, T. (2015). Early standard development assessment characteristics in very low birth weight infants later classified with autism spectrum disorder. *Early Human Development*, *91*(6), 357-359. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.03.012
- Klin, A., Saulnier, C., Tsatsanis, K., & Volkmar, F. R. (2005). Clinical evaluation in autism spectrum disorders: Psychological assessment within a transdisciplinary framework.

 Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders, 2, 772-798.
- Kogan, M. D., Vladutiu, C. J., Schieve, L. A., Ghandour, R. M., Blumberg, S. J., Zablotsky, B.,
 ... & Lu, M. C. (2018). The Prevalence of Parent-Reported Autism Spectrum Disorder
 Among US Children. *Pediatrics*, 142(6). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-4161
- Kuban, K. C. K., Oshea, T. M., Allred, E. N., Tager-Flusberg, H., Goldstein, D. J., & Leviton, A.
 (2009). Positive Screening on the Modified Checklist for Autism in Toddlers (M-CHAT)
 in Extremely Low Gestational Age Newborns. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 154(4), 535–540. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2008.10.011

- Kuzniewicz, M. W., Wi, S., Qian, Y., Walsh, E. M., Armstrong, M. A., & Croen, L. A. (2014).

 Prevalence and neonatal factors associated with autism spectrum disorders in preterm infants. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *164*(1), 20–25. doi:10.1016/j. jpeds.2013.09.021
- Lampi, K. M., Lehtonen, L., Tran, P. L., Suominen, A., Lehti, V., Banerjee, P. N., . . . & Sourander, A. (2010). Risk of Autism Spectrum Disorders in Low Birth Weight and Small for Gestational Age Infants. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *161*(5), 830-836. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.04.058
- Leavey, A., Zwaigenbaum, L., Heavner, K., & Burstyn, I. (2013). Gestational Age at Birth and Risk of Autism Spectrum Disorders in Alberta, Canada. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *162*(2), 361-368. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.07.040
- Lederman, V. R. G., Goulart, A. L., Nunes de Santos, A. M., & Schwartzman, J. S. (2018)

 Screening for ASD signs in very low birth weight preterm infants. *Psicologia: Teoria e practica*, 20(3), 86-99. http://dx.doi.org/10.5935/1980-6906/psicologia.v20n3p86-99.
- Limperopoulos, C. (2009). Autism Spectrum Disorders in Survivors of Extreme Prematurity. *Clinics in Perinatology*, *36*(4), 791-805. doi:10.1016/j.clp.2009.07.010
- Limperopoulos, C., Bassan, H., Sullivan, N. R., Soul, J. S., Robertson, R. L., Moore, M., ... & du Plessis, A. J. (2008a). Positive Screening Results for Autism in Ex-Preterm Infants: In Reply. *Pediatrics*, *122*(1), 222–223. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-1288
- Limperopoulos, C., Bassan, H., Sullivan, N. R., Soul, J. S., Robertson, R. L., Jr, Moore, M., Ringer, S. A., Volpe, J. J., & du Plessis, A. J. (2008b). Positive screening for autism in ex-preterm infants: prevalence and risk factors. *Pediatrics*, *121*(4), 758–765. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2007-2158

- Losh, M., Esserman, D., Anckarsater, H., Sullivan, P. F., & Lichtenstein, P. (2012). Lower birth weight indicates higher risk of autistic traits in discordant twin pairs. *Psychological Medicine*; 42, 1091–1102.
- Low Birthweight in Newborns: Symptoms and Causes: Boston Children's Hospital. (2020).

 Retrieved August 26, 2020, from http://www.childrenshospital.org/conditions-and-treatments/conditions/l/low-birthweight-in-newborns/symptoms-and-causes
- Lowe, J. R., Fuller, J. F., Do, B. T., Vohr, B. R., Das, A., Hintz, S. R., ... & Higgins, R. D. (2019). Behavioral problems are associated with cognitive and language scores in toddlers born extremely preterm. *Early Human Development*, *128*, 48–54. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2018.11.007
- Mandell, D. S., Ittenbach, R. F., Levy, S. E., & Pinto-Martin, J. A. (2007). Disparities in diagnoses received prior to a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *37*(9), 1795–1802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0314-8
- Mandell, D. S., Listerud, J., Levy, S. E., & Pinto-Martin, J. A. (2002). Race Differences in the Age at Diagnosis Among Medicaid-Eligible Children with Autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(12), 1447-1453.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200212000-00016
- Mandell, D. S., Wiggins, L. D., Carpenter, L. A., Daniels, J., DiGuiseppi, C., Durkin, M. S.,
 Giarelli, E., Morrier, M. J., Nicholas, J. S., Pinto-Martin, J. A., Shattuck, P. T., Thomas,
 K. C., Yeargin-Allsopp, M., & Kirby, R. S. (2009). Racial/ethnic disparities in the
 identification of children with autism spectrum disorders. *American journal of public health*, 99(3), 493–498. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.131243

- McCarthy, M. (2019, September 30). Extreme male brain theory of autism rests on shaky ground. Retrieved October 23, 2020, from https://www.spectrumnews.org/opinion/viewpoint/extreme-male-brain-theory-of-autism-rests-on-shaky-ground/
- Mann, J. R., McDermott, S., Bao, H., Hardin, J., & Gregg, A. (2009). Pre-Eclampsia, Birth Weight, and Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(5), 548-554. doi:10.1007/s10803-009-0903-4
- Maternal and perinatal health. (2013, October 22). Retrieved August 25, 2020, from https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/topics/maternal/maternal_perinatal/en/
- Matheis, M., Matson, J. L., & Burns, C. O. (2018). Premature Birth, Low Birth Weight, and Positive Screening for Autism Spectrum Disorder in an Early Intervention Sample.

 **Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities, 30(5), 689–705. doi: 10.1007/s10882-018-9613-1
- Morgan, P. L., Farkas, G., Hillemeier, M. M., & Maczuga, S. (2012). Are Minority Children

 Disproportionately Represented in Early Intervention and Early Childhood Special

 Education? *Educational Researcher*, 41(9), 339-351. doi: 10.3102/0013189X12459678
- Moss, B. G., & Chugani, D. C. (2014). Increased Risk of Very Low Birth Weight, Rapid

 Postnatal Growth, and Autism in Underweight and Obese Mothers. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 28(3), 181-188. doi:10.4278/ajhp.120705-quan-325
- Msall, M. E. (2010). Central Nervous System Connectivity after Extreme Prematurity:

 Understanding Autistic Spectrum Disorder. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *156*(4), 519–521.

 doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.12.035

- Nadler, A., Camerer, C., Zava, D., Ortiz, T., Watson, N., Carré, J., & Nave, G. (2019, September 11). Does testosterone impair men's cognitive empathy? Evidence from two large-scale randomized controlled trials. Retrieved October 23, 2020, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31480979
- National Institutes of Health (NIH). (2015, September 02). Early Autism May Not Last a Lifetime. Retrieved November 26, 2020, from https://www.nih.gov/news-events/nih-research-matters/early-autism-may-not-last-lifetime
- Nevison, C., & Parker, W. (2020). California Autism Prevalence by County and Race/Ethnicity:

 Declining Trends Among Wealthy Whites. *Journal of Autism and Developmental*Disorders, 50(11), 4011-4021. doi:10.1007/s10803-020-04460-0
- Nevison, C., & Zahorodny, W. (2019). Race/Ethnicity-Resolved Time Trends in United States

 ASD Prevalence Estimates from IDEA and ADDM. *Journal of Autism and*Developmental Disorders, 49(12), 4721-4730. doi:10.1007/s10803-019-04188-6
- Nitin, G., Jordan, K., Nagavalli, A., & Hasini, K. (2016). Effect of Low Birth Weight and Preterm Birth on Incidence of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *General Public Health Journals*. https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12503/26792
- Opara, E., & Zaidi, J. (2007, September 12). OBGYN. Retrieved October 23, 2020, from https://obgyn.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2007.01435.x
- Paddock, C. (2019). New evidence challenges 'extreme male brain' theory of autism. Retrieved October 23, 2020, from https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/326264
- Pinborough-Zimmerman, J., Bilder, D., Bakian, A., Satterfield, R., Carbone, P. S., Nangle, B. E., . . . & McMahon, W. M. (2011). Sociodemographic risk factors associated with autism

- spectrum disorders and intellectual disability. *Autism Research*, *4*(6), 438-448. doi:10.1002/aur.224
- Preterm birth. (2018b, February 19). Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/preterm-birth
- Preterm Birth. (2019, October 21). Retrieved August 28, 2020, from https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/maternalinfanthealth/pretermbirth.htm
- Pyhälä, R., Hovi, P., Lahti, M., Sammallahti, S., Lahti, J., Heinonen, K., . . . & Räikkönen, K. (2014). Very Low Birth Weight, Infant Growth, and Autism-Spectrum Traits in Adulthood. *Pediatrics*, *134*(6), 1075-1083. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-1097d
- Russell, G., Steer, C., & Golding, J. (2011). Social and demographic factors that influence the diagnosis of autistic spectrum disorders. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 46, 1283-1293. doi:10.1007/s00127-010-0294-z
- Şahin B., Bozkurt A., & Karabekiroğlu K. (2019). Perinatal and Medical Risk Factors in Children with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Autism Spectrum Disorder or Specific Learning Disorder: Comparison Between Diagnostic Groups. *Journal of Istanbul Faculty of Medicine*, 20(6): 502-7
- Schendel, D., & Bhasin, T. K. (2008). Birth Weight and Gestational Age Characteristics of Children with Autism, Including a Comparison with Other Developmental Disabilities.

 *Pediatrics, 121(6), 1155–1164. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1049
- Schieve, L. A., Boulet, S. L., Blumberg, S. J., Kogan, M. D., Yeargin-Allsopp, M., Boyle, C. A., . . . & Rice, C. (2012a). Association between parental nativity and autism spectrum disorder among US-born non-Hispanic white and Hispanic children, 2007 National

- Survey of Children's Health. *Disability and Health Journal*, *5*(1), 18-25. doi:10.1016/j.dhjo.2011.09.001
- Schieve, L. A., Rice, C., Yeargin-Allsopp, M., Boyle, C. A., Kogan, M. D., Drews, C., & Devine, O. (2012b). Parent-Reported Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorders in US-Born Children: An Assessment of Changes within Birth Cohorts from the 2003 to the 2007 National Survey of Children's Health. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *16*, 151-157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-012-1004-0
- Schieve, L. A., Tian, L. H., Rankin, K., Kogan, M. D., Yeargin-Allsopp, M., Visser, S., & Rosenberg, D. (2016). Population impact of preterm birth and low birth weight on developmental disabilities in US children. *Annals of epidemiology*, *26*(4), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2016.02.012
- Screening and Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder. (2020b, March 13). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/screening.html
- Screening and Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder for Healthcare Providers. (2020c, February 11). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/hcp-screening.html
- Setia M. S. (2016). Methodology Series Module 3: Cross-sectional Studies. *Indian journal of dermatology*, 61(3), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Sharma, S. R., Gonda, X., & Tarazi, F. I. (2018). Autism Spectrum Disorder: Classification, diagnosis and therapy. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *190*, 91–104. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.05.007
- Simon, A. E., Pastor, P. N., Avila, R. M., & Blumberg, S. J. (2013). Socioeconomic disadvantage and developmental delay among US children aged 18 months to 5 years.

- Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 67(8), 689-695. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43281598
- Spotlight on Closing the Racial and Ethnic Gaps in the Identification of Autism Spectrum

 Disorder. (2020d, October 02). Retrieved October 23, 2020, from

 https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/addm-community-report/spotlight-on-closing-racial-gaps.html
- Stein, D. J., Phillips, K. A., Bolton, D., Fulford, K. W., Sadler, J. Z., & Kendler, K. S. (2010). What is a mental/psychiatric disorder? From DSM-IV to DSM-V. *Psychological medicine*, *40*(11), 1759–1765. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291709992261
- Stephens, B. E., Bann, C. M., Watson, V. E., Sheinkopf, S. J., Peralta-Carcelen, M., Bodnar, A., ... & Vohr, B. R. (2012). Screening for Autism Spectrum Disorders in Extremely Preterm Infants. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, *33*(7), 535-541. Doi:10.1097/DBP.0b013e31825fd0af.
- Sugie, Y., Sugie, H., Fukuda, T., Ito, M. (2005). Neonatal factors in infants with Autistic Disorder and typically developing infants. *The National Autistic Society, SAGE Publications*, *9*(5), 487-494. DOI: 10.1177/1362361305057877
- Tchaconas, A., & Adesman, A. (2013). Autism spectrum disorders. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 25(1), 130-144. doi:10.1097/mop.0b013e32835c2b70
- Thomas, S., Hovinga, M. E., Rai, D., & Lee, B. K. (2016). Brief Report: Prevalence of Cooccurring Epilepsy and Autism Spectrum Disorder: The U.S. National Survey of Children's Health 2011–2012. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47(1), 224-229. doi:10.1007/s10803-016-2938-7
- Van Honk, J., Schutter, D. J., Bos, P. A., Kruijt, A., Lentjes, E. G., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2013).

 Testosterone administration impairs cognitive empathy in women depending on second-

- to-fourth digit ratio. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110*(28), 11660-11661. doi:10.1073/pnas.1310664110
- Wang, C., Geng, H., Liu, W., & Zhang, G. (2017). Prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal factors associated with autism. *Medicine*, *96*(18), 1-7. doi:10.1097/md.0000000000006696 What Is Autism? (2019). Retrieved from https://www.autismspeaks.org/what-autism
- Xie, F., Peltier, M., & Getahun, D. (2016). Is the Risk of Autism in Younger Siblings of Affected Children Moderated by Sex, Race/Ethnicity, or Gestational Age? *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 37(8), 603-609.

doi:10.1097/dbp.0000000000000341